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Rightly or wrongly, during the early years of the 

twentieth Century, unions in general were seen as 

socialistic outreaches to American workers.  This, in an 

era of socialist sponsored terrorism in the U. S. and 

great suspension about the flood of immigrants from 

eastern and southern Europe.    

 

As unionism was an easier sell to immigrants, many 

chose to criticize unions in general as havens for those 

less than loyal to America.  Anarchists –like caricatures 

were often used to depict organized labor as shown in 

the magazine cover to the left from 1899 (Source: 

Library of Congress).   

 

 
 

  

Why Unions ?

• Unions came about to give the works a counter balance to 

the often-misused power of the employers

• In the vast majority of instances where unions were 

successful in organizing, it was because the company did 

not provide  an environment for the workers that met the 

most basic of conditions for reasonable employment and 

had low wages, long hours, unhealthy or unsafe work 

places or, in general, a lack of concern for the employee

• Most if not all of these conditions existed in the 19th and 

early 20th century industrial environment and organized 

labor is to be credited for much of the needed change 

which occurred during the first half of the 20th century

• The change was difficult as the owners of the factories, 

plants and mines were not about to yield the almost total 

control they had over the workers nor the freedom they 

had to exercise this power, often for financial gain

• This was to be a battle where both often resorted to 

forceful if not violent means to gain an end

~~~~~
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Two 1890s era illustrations from Puck 

casting labor unions in a negative manner.  

Interestingly, the agitators are largely 

depicted as eastern or southern European 

and as socialist, indicated by the red cloth.  

Library of Congress  



502 

 

 

  

A 1903 cartoon from the very popular “Puck” weekly magazine depicting the conflict 

between unions and government as regards national service.  Union members were 

threatened with expulsion if they chose to serve in the National Guard.  It was misguided 

policies like this that furthered the belief that the union movement was socialist backed, a 

sentiment the industrial groups sought to exploit.  Library of Congress 
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It would seem that the union activity at Bisbee was poorly timed. As demonstrated in the above 

graphic, most of the periods of activity on the part of the unions were at the time of falling or low 

metal prices.  Of course this was also when the men working in the mines felt less secure as 

wages were often reduced and men laid off, something unions sought to exploit.  This was also a 

time when the companies were the least receptive to what they perceived as outside interference, 

as they were trying to keep operations trimmed and cost effective.   

 

Once established, the unions at Bisbee were varied and often competing.  First came the Western 

Federation of Miners (WFM), then the Industrial Workers of the World (IWW) which was born 

of the radical socialist faction of the WFM. Over time, the WFM became the International Union 

of Mine, Mill and Smelter Workers (IUMM) or (IUMMSW).  It was not affiliated with the 

Congress of Industrial Operators (CIO) or the American Federation of Labor (AFL), both of 

which were often competitors to represent the mine and mechanical workers.  In the 1960s, the 

IUMM was absorbed by the United Steel Workers of America (SWOA).     
 

 

  

An overview of important events and union activity 

Union activity at Bisbee was largely associated with periods of 

low copper prices and the associated wage reductions and 

layoffs.  The IWW action in 1917 is the lone exception ~~~~~

An overview of important events and union activity 

Union activity at Bisbee was largely associated with periods of 

low copper prices and the associated wage reductions and 

layoffs.  The IWW action in 1917 is the lone exception ~~~~~
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As is intuitively obvious, workers were increased during times of high metal prices by the 

companies to take advantage of the good times and produce more copper, usually from lower-

grade ores or those ores more difficult to extract.  Conversely, when prices were low, workers 

were reduced in number to save on labor costs.  Also, low prices or high labor cost always sent 

management looking for ways to improve productivity and the early 20
th

 century provided a 

straight forward way to reduce cost in all industries --- modernization and mechanization.  This 

was very much the case in labor intensive industries like mining. Bisbee began this change in the 

very early years of that century.  This change threatened many workers security.   

 

Hand drilling was a highly skilled occupation, but now one semi-skilled man with a pneumatic 

drill could do in half a day what three highly skilled men would do in two days, drill out a round 

for blasting.  Car trammers were low skilled workers, but they too were being replaced with 

machines.  A trolley motor could haul 100 times more cars in a day and it only needed two men.  

And too, skips replaced the many, many cagers and toplanders used to hoist the thousands of cars 

to the surface every day for dumping in the ore bins. 

 

This lack of security was fertile ground for union organizers, fertile, but not easy as the CQ was 

good to its people. In September, 1903, J. T. Lewis, executive board member of WFM District 
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Bisbee was very different

• The management of the Copper Queen was different, very 

different when it came to their workers.  They cared, and showed 

it in so many ways.  The CQ was typically the industry leader in 

providing for the workers and their families, always paying fair 

wages and listening to them, something rare for the time

• Still, Bisbee and it mines were a target for the unions as they 

believed any non-union mine was unacceptable no matter the 

enlightened policy practiced by management, it was a threat

• The unions saw their chance in the early 1900s as for the first 

time in its history, Bisbee’s mines were changing the way men 

worked.  Modernization and mechanization were displacing 

skilled miners with machines and low skilled men.  Many saw their 

jobs threatened and in fact, they were threatened.   And too, the 

fluctuating price of price of copper controlled both their wages 

and their numbers with layoffs more common  ~~~~~
Total employees vs copper price ($/lb)
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• The management of the Copper Queen was different, very 

different when it came to their workers.  They cared, and showed 

it in so many ways.  The CQ was typically the industry leader in 

providing for the workers and their families, always paying fair 

wages and listening to them, something rare for the time

• Still, Bisbee and it mines were a target for the unions as they 

believed any non-union mine was unacceptable no matter the 

enlightened policy practiced by management, it was a threat

• The unions saw their chance in the early 1900s as for the first 

time in its history, Bisbee’s mines were changing the way men 

worked.  Modernization and mechanization were displacing 

skilled miners with machines and low skilled men.  Many saw their 

jobs threatened and in fact, they were threatened.   And too, the 

fluctuating price of price of copper controlled both their wages 

and their numbers with layoffs more common  ~~~~~
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#1, on instructions from WFM President William D. Haywood, went to Douglas and Bisbee to 

organize the workers.  He remained in the area form September 22 to October 1, but had to 

report: “In view of the fact that the Copper Queen Mining Company has always met our 

organization with  united opposition, the  men that were fortunate enough to be working for them 

at the time absolutely refused to have anything whatever to do with a labor organization.”  

However, true to their “faith” “that a union mine was a better mine,” the WFM came back, again 

and again, looking for the right moment.  Heywood believed that moment occurred in 1907.  

 
Slide 5 

The unions failed at Bisbee because those who worked at the Queen were a well-paid lot 

working under conditions as good as any mine anywhere, thus the unions could not offer the 

workers any material improvement in their conditions of employment.  The Bisbee Daily review 

(1903) wrote: 

“... the year around, 3 shifts of men, working 8 hours per day receiving the highest wages paid in 

the country, go down into the Copper Queen, and rarely do the names on the payroll change, as 

long as good men wish to remain in the company’s employ, and a more contented, money saving, 

industrious, sober and thrifty list of employees cannot be found anywhere upon the face of the 

globe.” 

  

Organized Labor at Bisbee – the early years

• The late 1890s and early 1900s  were a period of 

intense activity on the part of the Western 

Federation of Miners (WFM) to organize all mining 

camps, and Bisbee was no exception, but to no avail, 

despite repeated efforts by the union

• The Copper Queen had always been fair to their 

workers, paying above standard wages, as well as 

being progressive in improving working conditions, 

reducing working hours and caring for the men and 

their families in so many ways.  Because of this 

enlightened approach to worker relations, the 

unions had nothing to offer the well treated miners

• This did not stop the WFM from trying – over and 

over again – 1904, 1906, 1907.  The last effort in 

1907 was very different and in many regards, could 

be considered as almost successful

• The 1907 actions by the WFM were financially 

supported from the outside at the outset, but soon it 

had substantial local support

• The organization efforts by the WFM in 1907 were 

met with swift, fierce resistance by the companies

~~~~~
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This contentment, while good for the company and the employees was most nettlesome for the 

unions.  The late 1890’s and early 1900’s saw effort after effort by the Western Federation of 

Miners (WFM) to organize the workers in Bisbee.  In 1904, The Engineering and Mining Journal 

noted that: 

 “This camp is one of a very few in the West that has never witnessed a strike, or any serious 

disagreement between the company and the miners—a record equally creditable to both parties.  

It is also remarkable from the fact that it is not unionized and cannot be persuaded into joining 

the union.  It goes without saying that the labor leaders have long regarded this camp with 

covetous eyes and have put forth every effort to convert it from its infidelity”  

  

A later issue of the same magazine noted: 

 “Labor leaders have long covetously eyed Bisbee and put forth every effort -- yet not a dollar 

finds its’ way into the pockets of the union leaders.  [This] comes from a mutual confidence 

between employer and employee and is full of a significance that scarcely be bought by union 

propaganda’ (Engineering and Mining Journal, 1904). 

  

In 1906, the WFM tried again and spent three months seeking to enlist men into the union using 

every tactic available, included intimidation (Raymant, 1906).  Of the approximately 4,000 men 

employed at the mines, 2,700 voted in an election in which the union received a scant 15% 

(Engineering and Mining Journal, 1906).  The financial panic of 1907 caused copper to drop in 

price and wages were reduced.  This looked like an opportunity to the WFM, but the mining 

companies moved quickly to control the strike called by the union and it soon died.  The 

humiliation was enough; the union officially gave up at Bisbee. That is until 1916 when another 

failed effort was tried (Mills, 1958).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Under Walter Douglas the company continued its long held policy of paying fair wages, now tied 

to the price of copper, and constantly sought to improve working conditions.  Benefits new to all 

such as a retirement program and an association to provide for wage continuation in the case of 

accident or illnesses were put in place by the younger Douglas (Mills, 1958). A safety 

department was established in 1912 (Cox, 1938) in a real effort to protect workers as well as 

educate them to protect themselves.   In spite of his progressive approach to employee relations, 

history has not necessarily been too kind to him.  Most recently, he was vilified by Byrkit (1982) 

in his cleverly crafted “Forging the Copper Collar” a most unfair treatment. 
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The above is excerpted from:  

A History of the Copper Queen Consolidated Mining Company and its employees by Richard W. 

Graeme 1999 
Slide 6 

Bisbee was one of the largest mining camps in the Territory of Arizona and had steadfastly 

remained non-union. The WFM now decided to direct its efforts toward bringing miners there 

into the fold for any non-union mine was viewed as an unacceptable threat to the WFM.  As 

noted above, the miners were reluctant to join, in spite of the efforts of the organizers.  To be 

sure, the undeniable fact that the miners were fairly paid and well treated made this task ever 

more difficult for the union organizers, but there was more. 

 

This reluctance to become union members on the part of the workers was no accident nor was it 

simply because they were so well treated that there was no possible benefit to be gained. The 

companies knew when the organizers were in town did not sit idly by or take an indifferent 

attitude to the organizing efforts of the WFM.  James Douglas believed that “co-operation under 

corporate control would solve the legitimate grievances of labor.”   His son and General 

Manager of the Copper Queen, Walter Douglas, stated that “… the Western Federation of Miners 

should never organize at Bisbee, and rather than see such a calamity occur, the mines would shut 

down.”   

 

Unions come to Bisbee, but are resisted by the companies

Grae me Larkin collection 

WFM membership booklet   

1903

The little red membership booklet of the 

WFM was, to James and Walter Douglas, 

like the proverbial  red flag to a bull.  

They had but one desirer – rid the District 

of this menace.  Any and all means to do so 

were to be employed at any cost.

Any miner who became a union member was 

immediately dismissed.  Anyone with 

suspected pro-union sympathy was dropped 

from the payroll and a miner seen 

anywhere near the union hall or with 

know organizers was very much at risk.  

There was no shortage of people to 

report such “misguided” behavior.  The 

company had eyes everywhere. It was not 

wise to be union, if you worked in Bisbee

The Company paper, The Bisbee Daily 

Review, carried out an aggressive  

propaganda campaign  on almost a daily 

basis
~~~~~
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Every bit of the considerable resources the companies had were directed at stopping the spread 

of a socialistic union cancer in Bisbee.  Thus little took place after the 1903 with the exception of 

a brief visit by WFM organizer Marion W. Moor in September of 1905, nothing further was done 

to unite Bisbee workers until January of 1906.  The WFM came into town in force with a number 

of paid organizers and experienced modest success in signing up new members, but the union 

issue did get considerable attention from the miners, to the point that it was widely debated 

among the men. 

 

On February 26, 1906, a conference of leading miners from throughout the district decided to 

hold a mass meeting for discussion of the union question. A number of those who spoke against 

organizing the camp admitted having been WFM members but accused the union of not 

knowing how conditions were in Bisbee.  Several charged the union with playing politics.  When 

all had been given the opportunity to speak, a motion was passed that called for an Australian 

vote on March 5, 1906.  Every man currently employed would be allowed to cast a secret ballot 

for a union to a non-union camp. The election was held as scheduled with the vote of 2288 

against the union and 428 votes in favor of the union.  The defeat received wide attention in the 

Tucson Arizona Daily Star, which called it “an important decision” and expressed the hope that 

the question was settled once and for all.  

 

Of course, the question had not been settled, at least in the minds of the union leadership.  A 

patient and determined lot, they would return time and time again to await the moment that the 

cozy relationship between the workers and the mine management was strained. 

Slide 7 

The strike of 1907

The WFM came back  to Bisbee at the beginning of 1907 as things 

had changed with modernization.  This brought in lower skilled 

men and  layoffs had occurred for some. The WFM brought in the 

best they had to organize the wayward flock.  In a few months, 

some 1200 men had signed up as members. The mining companies 

resisted in every way possible including firings to intimidate and 

pay raises to encourage the faithful. A strike was called by the 

WFM in April, though it was only partially effective as the mines 

were never full closed.  There is little doubt that it impacted 

production. However the

CQ had stockpiled months of 

ore at its smelter to 

withstand a strike at the 

mines.  The battle for the 

hearts and minds of the 

miners waged on the streets 

of Bisbee was unceasing 

The financial collapse of the 

copper market late in the 

year ended the strike in 

December, but the WFM was 

now here.

Graeme Larkin collection 

Some of the ore stockpiled at the smelter at 

Douglas  C - 1905
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In January of 1907 the WFM came back to Bisbee with the financial support of the unions at 

other mining camps.  This was to be a full, frontal attack on this, the lone holdout among 

Arizona’s mining camps.  Every effort was to be used, every effort no matter what the WFM was 

going to organize Bisbee. The players involved for the union were the best of the era 

 

On February 20, Mary “Mother” Jones arrived in Bisbee.  A colorful zealot, “Mother” Jones had 

taken up labor’s cause in Chicago during the violent Haymarket ere, but she soon adopted the 

struggle of America’s miners as her special crusade.  The fervor and oratorical skill of the fiery 

little Irishwoman quickly won the hearts of the miners as she urged them to “pray for the dead 

and fight like hell for the living!”  She spoke to the Bisbee workers that night in an open-air 

street meeting in her customary dynamic manner, a speech powerful enough to elicit praise even 

from the anti-union Bisbee Daily Review. 

 

By the end of April, the local had enrolled 1224 members, 700 of them joining for the first time 

and the remaining 524 either old or reinstated members.  The mines continued to fire men who 

were or might be affiliated with the union and by March 5 the Bisbee Daily Review reprinted an 

article from El Paso Times in which Dr. Robert Ferguson, the assistant surgeon of the Copper 

Queen hospital, reported that only enough men were working to keep the shafts from being 

ruined.  The Copper Queen was said to have enough ore on ground to keep its Douglas smelter 

running for three months and ended by stating, “The Company will never recognize the WFM.” 

 

The reports of how many responded to the strike call vary, with the companies reporting seventy 

percent at work, the union saying sixty-five percent were out on strike, while the rumors about 

town said no more than forty to fifty percent were out.  On April 12, the mechanics at the mines 

voted not to support the union effort. While very important, it is difficult to call it the crucial 

point in the strike as did the Bisbee Daily Review of April 14. 

 

Possibly the greatest factor in the struggle between the union and Phelps Dodge was occurring 

not in southeastern Arizona but in the banks and trust companies of the East.  Unsettled financial 

conditions throughout most of 1907, culminating in the panic in October and November of that 

year, did more to aid the large copper corporations than any direct action taken by the 

companies.  As the Supply of money tightened, the price of copper began to fall.  By October 

copper had fallen from its March high of twenty-five cents to thirteen cents per pound.  In 

November wages were cut to $3.50 per shift and the companies began to lay off men.  

 

The above are excerpts, with some modification from: 

Gaining a Foothold in the Paradise of Capitalism  

The Western Federation of Miners and The Unionization of Bisbee  

By James D. McBride 
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The company-owned Bisbee Daily Review headlines of 

April 10, 11, 12 and 17, 1907 covering the WFM 

action at Bisbee.  Within a few days, things had 

returned to normal and the strike simply faded away 

over the next few weeks. 

While the strike of 1907 gradually faded away, 

the union was in Bisbee to stay, albeit in a minor 

way.  To the left is a 1914 announcement for the 

Seventh Anniversary Ball in benefit of the 

striking miners in Michigan. Seventh anniversary 

as the Bisbee local had been established in 1907. 
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The mining companies learned that unions could now be successful in Bisbee if nothing was 

done.  To be sure, both PD and the C & A were well ahead of their time in providing for their 

employee’s welfare, but more had to be done.  Company sponsored “unions” were initiated 

which give the employees defined channels for communicating with management.  Perhaps the 

most significant effort was the establishment by both companies of insurance schemes for the 

workers to cover wages lost due to illness or injury, work related or otherwise as well as life 

insurance for the worker.  There were no other such programs around to help out in the case of 

such event.  Workers compensation laws were being considered, but were still a few years away 

and these would not cover non-work related events. 

 

The programs were voluntary, member workers made monthly contributions and the company 

also helped fund the program with the funding level based on membership levels, but with the 

commitment to keep the program solvent.  Early on, just over 60% of the employees became 

members, but soon, more than 85% of all employees belonged.  One remarkable feature of the 

program was that it accepted Mexican employees as well.   

 

This was unusual for the era as Mexican workers were treated very different than American or 

Europeans by both the company and the non-Mexicans.  In the context of today this is difficult to 
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understand, but at the time it was not only accepted as appropriate, it was enforced by the non-

Mexican workers who refused to allow these capable men to work underground at Bisbee. 

 
Slide 9 

 

The IWW was founded in 1905 by individuals who held Socialist beliefs and its “doctrine” was 

inspired by organizations which “espoused anarchist and syndicalist ideals. Believing “workers 

and owners had no interest in common and class war was inevitable,” the ultimate goal of the 

IWW was to produce a “new society” in which wage labor and capitalism would not exist.  

Within the organization’s vision, workers themselves would control companies, not capitalists. 

Knowing of the IWW’s desires, the Bisbee Daily Review wondered why the union had not 

founded a community based upon such ideals.  The paper stated that “There [were] plenty of 

mining prospects” and that the IWW should pull its funds together to start the type of venture 

they advocated instead of using their resources to strike.      

 

A report from the Arizona Chapter of the Mining Congress, a trade association, stated, “The 

strike call was irregular and illegal under all rules and laws governing recognized union labor 

organizations and was subsequently denounced and disavowed by the Western Federation of 

Miners, the American Federation of Labor and other organizations of recognized Union 

standing.”[1] 

Then came the IWW

• The International Workers of the World (IWW) 

or “Wobblies” as they were called, were a 

radical bunch by any standard when they came to 

Bisbee in 1917 and begin to try and organize the 

miners using half truths and intimidation

• The WFM quickly distanced itself from the IWW 

everywhere, including at Bisbee 

• To the IWW, any means justified the end, indeed 

sabotage was widely preached

• The whole philosophy of this group was very 

much at odds with most in Bisbee and the US as a 

whole. The US had just entered the “Great War in 

Europe”, a war the IWW opposed in such a way 

that it appeared to be decidedly anti-American 

and pro-German, if not German financed

• Throughout the US, the IWW was disrupting 

industries vital to the war effort – metal mining, 

timber and manufacturing with strikes, including 

other Arizona mining areas

• After several difficult months of the IWW 

insisting it be recognized by the companies, a list 

of demands was submitted, all of which were 

totally unacceptable to any of the mining 

companies who still refused to even talk to the 

IWW, much less accede to the demands  ~~~~~
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     [1] “Deportations From Bisbee and a Resume of Other Troubles in Arizona,” Arizona 

Chapter of the American Mining Congress.  

 

Much more radical than its counterparts of the era, the IWW encouraged its members to employ 

such tactics as “slowdowns and sabotage” within the work place.  In the eyes of the union, such 

strategy could be implemented “when conventional strikes failed,” and were viewed as “on-the-

job [strikes].”  In a pamphlet distributed in 1917 by the IWW, these feelings were plainly stated 

and instructed the reader on what sabotage entailed: 

 

“Sabotage is the destruction of profits to gain a definite, revolutionary, economic end.  It has 

many forms.  It may mean the damaging of raw materials destined for a scab, factory or shop.  It 

may mean the spoiling of a finished product.  It may mean the displacement of parts of 

machinery or the disarrangement of a whole machine where that machine is the one upon which 

the other machines are dependent for material.  It may mean working slow.  It may mean poor 

work.  It may mean missending packages.  [sic] giving overweight to customers, pointing out 

defects in goods, using the best of materials where the employer desires adulteration and also 

the telling of trade secrets.  In fact, it has as many variations as there are different lines of 

work.”   

 

The pamphlet went further to state: 

 

“Note this important point, however.  Sabotage does not seek nor desire to take human life.  

Neither is it directed against the consumer except where wide publicity has been given to the fact 

that the sabotaged product is under the ban.  A boycotted product is at all times a fit subject for 

sabotage.  The aim is to hit the employer in his vital spot, his heart and soul, in other words, his 

pocketbook.  The consumer is struck only when he interposes himself between the two 

combatants.”  

 

Because of the words and actions of the IWW, It was widely believed that the group was 

financed by German money in order to undermine the US war effort. It was insinuated by other 

unions that the IWW was financed with German funds when Charles Moyer, president of the 

IUMMSW (the successor to the WFM) reportedly said, “The Industrial Workers of the World has 

had no money in its treasury.  It seems to have plenty of money now.  Where it got it I cannot say.  

The public may speculate [about] it”.  Unlike Moyer, Phelps Dodge President Walter Douglas 

was more direct about suspicion regarding the origin of the union’s funding.  Douglas stated, 

“The organizers spend money like drunken sailors and there is a general belief it is German 

money.” 

 

 In defense of such accusations, James Chapman, a representative of Bisbee’s IWW branch 

proclaimed “that there was no German influence or revolutionary propaganda behind the IWW 

movement.”  Bill Haywood, the Secretary Treasurer of the IWW also denied that German funds 

financed the organization’s strikes. “Outrage Say Haywood, IWW Official Denies That Union Is 

Backed by German Money” New York Times, 13 July. 
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In any event, it was clear that many strongly believed in 

the IWW/Germany connection.  To be sure, it met the 

mining companies needs to further this belief and they 

undoubtedly did so as they refused to engage the IWW 

directly. However, the company said it would continue 

to deal directly with their employees.  The Copper 

Queen manager Dowell stated, Phelps Dodge would 

“never negotiate with an organization founded on 

principles inimical to good government in times of 

peace, and treasonable in times of war.”  Dowell did 

not believe that the union represented the opinion of 

Phelps Dodge’s employees, who he thought were “loyal 

American citizens,” while the IWW was “doing 

everything in its power to paralyze the industries in 

[the] state and nation” during a time of war.  In 

addition, when the President of the Phelps Dodge 

Corporation, Walter Douglas, son of Dr. James Douglas, 

was asked about meeting the demands of the strikers he 

made it clear the company would not negotiate.  

Douglas stated, “There will be no compromise because 

you cannot compromise with a rattlesnake.”  Lastly, 

when the superintendent of the Copper Queen, Gerald 

Sherman, received a copy of the IWW’s demands he promptly tore the paper and "threw the 

pieces in [a] wastebasket.” 

     

John Greenway, the general manager of the Calumet and Arizona Mining Company, said the 

requests of the IWW were “impossible” to meet and “declined” to engage in any negotiations 

whatsoever with the union.  Greenway stated this was because he felt the labor “organization 

[was] apparently engaged in a nationwide conspiracy to close down the copper mines of the 

United States which would cripple and greatly imperil the government of the United States in the 

Great War it [had] entered.”  Moreover, he argued that Bisbee was the “highest paid [mining] 

camp in the world and conduct of its mines is proverbially clean and high grade.” 

 

Finally, the general manager of Bisbee’s Shattuck Arizona Copper Company, Lemuel Shattuck, 

echoed the thoughts of his counterparts, Dowell and Greenway.  He too thought the strike was no 

more than an effort to “cut off the copper output required to prosecute the war.”  Furthermore, 

the general manager said the Shattuck Arizona Copper Company made “continual progress” in 

the areas of improved “working conditions and management” for the business.  Lastly, Shattuck 

claimed the “working conditions in Bisbee [were] better than anywhere in the world,” and 

reiterated Greenway’s argument that the town was “the highest paid wage camp in the United 

States.” 

 

Most of the above has been directly excerpted from: 

DIGGING UP THE PAST: 

 MINING, LABOR AND THE DEPORTATION OF 1917 IN BISBEE, ARIZONA 

By Cherry Anne Graeme Larkin 

Undated cartoon showing Uncle Sam rounding up 

traitors, including the IWW.  Library of Congress 
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Slide 10 

The IWW clearly stated that its end goal 

was the destruction of the capitalistic 

system and that the goal would justify any 

means necessary.  Strikes were the first 

action they attempted. 

This philosophy was too radical for the 

other unions of the time and they wisely 

chose to distance themselves from the 

IWW and their actions. Of course, the 

IWW was a competitor to the International 

Union of Mine, Mill and Smelter Workers 

(successor to the WFM) and other unions, 

so it served their needs as well.  And too, it 

gave the other unions a chance to seem 

more reasonable by painting the IWW as 

socialistic radicals, a charge these other 

unions had suffered under for many years. 

Now, in comparison with the IWW, the 

The IWW demands were never truly about wages

Copper 

Price ¢

Miner 

$/day

Mucker 

$/day

15 4.00 3.75

16 4.10 3.85

17 4.25 4.00

18 4.35 4.10

19 4.50 4.25

20 4.60 4.35

21 4.75 4.50

22 4.85 4.60

23 5.00 4.75

24 5.10 4.85

25 5.25 5.00

26 5.35 5.10

27 5.50 5.25

28 5.60 5.35

29 5.75 5.50

30 5.85 5.60

31 6.00 5.75

32 6.10 5.85

33 6.25 6.00

34 6.35 6.10

35 6.50 6.25

1917 Mucker Miner

Jan. 5.75 6.00

Feb. 5.35 5.60

Mar. 5.75 6.00

Apr. 5.75 6.00

May 5.25 5.50

June 5.35 5.60

July 5.50 5.75

Graeme Larkin collection  

Copper Queen miners lineup on payday             C 

- 1915

Statement of witnesses  in the 1920 trial of                  

H. E. Wooten  for his part in the deportation                 

Cochise County Recorders office files

The miners at Bisbee were 

already paid as much or more 

than the IWW was asking for.  

The stated goal of the IWW 

was to destroy the companies 

and little else.  Few miners 

shared this goal

Wage scale in 1917 

as tied to the price 

of copper (L) and 

the level of wages 

paid per day   

(above)  Source: 

Mining Conditions in 

Bisbee, Arizona – 1917  

Graeme Larkin 

collection
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IUMMSW seemed quite reasonable and legitimate.   

The IUMMSW publically announced that it did not recognize the IWW and that it did not 

consider any action taken by the IWW as a legitimate labor action and that men who chose to 

cross an IWW picket line would not be considered as scabs.   Some have suggested that the 

conflict at Bisbee was as much a battle between competing unions as a battle between capital and 

labor (Cox, 1938). 

Slide 11 

With each of Bisbee’s three mining companies meeting the IWW’s demands with a flat refusal, a 

strike was called by the IWW to commence on June 27, 1917.[1]  However, it has been stated 

that this was done without a meeting or a vote of union members. Appointed merely a few days 

before, the IWW’s “committee of five” called the strike.  It was noted, “many of the men of the 

district knew nothing of the strike call until they were turned back by pickets on the morning of 

the 27th.”[2]  Furthermore, “many of those who went [on strike] did not, in fact, believe in the 

justice of the strike,” and only did so because they did not wish to be labeled as scabs by their 

coworkers and wanted to be loyal to the union.[3]  The precise number of actual strikers varies 

from document to document.  It is estimated almost one half of the approximated 5,000 

combined employees from three mining companies in Bisbee participated in the strike, with as 

little as thirty-five percent of the workforce reporting to the mines as the strike progressed.[4]   

The IWW calls a strike

• On June 27, 1917, the IWW called a strike                          

against all of the mining companies at Bisbee with a vote 

from a committee of only five men, none of whom had been 

elected by the miners they purported to represent 

• Each of the companies attempted to continue operating, but 

with limited success as only a part of the workforce 

reported for work, for various reasons, not always 

because they supported the strike, but often from fear

• As the strike drew on, things became increasingly tense in 

Bisbee with verbal confrontations occurring between 

strikes and non-strikers, with threats against the “scabs”  

• Sheriff Wheeler called for help from the government, but 

was denied the assistance he sought as the army did not 

view the situation as critical

• The continued inflammatory rhetoric of the strikers 

seemed to only add fuel to the growing flames of 

discontent in the community and the very real possibility of 

bloodshed concerned Wheeler and many others

• Something had to be done,  but what?  Jerome, Arizona had 

just forcibly deported 65 IWW strikers in late May. 

• Was this the answer for Bisbee as well, even tough many, 

many more strikers and sympathizers were involved

~~~~~
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     [1] McBride, “The Bisbee Deportation in Words and Images,” 67. 

     [2] “Deportations from Bisbee and a Resume of Other Troubles in Arizona,” Arizona Chapter 

of the American Mining Congress, 1917.  Cited in The Bisbee Deportation: A University of 

Arizona Web Exhibit, Arizona Board of Regents,  

http://digital.library.arizona.edu/bisbee/docs2/deport.php, (accessed 9 April 2003).  The original 

copy of the source provided to the web site is located in the University of Arizona Special 

Collections Library, H9791 B621 A51.  

     [3] U.S. Department of Labor, Report on the Bisbee Deportations (Washington: Government 

Printing Office, 1918), 4.                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

     [4] “More Men Quit Copper Mines,” New York Times, 29 June 1917.  While 65 percent of the 

workforce may have not reported for work that day, it does not necessarily mean all of these 

individuals were on the picket lines.  It is quite probable that some people stayed away from 

work due to intimidation from strikers. Moreover, some individuals left the mining camp during 

the strike to avoid any conflicts which could take place. 
 

While the strikers were noted for expressing their beliefs in a nonviolent manner, rumors of 

potential violence by the picketers filtered through the mining camp. [1] After work, one Bisbee 

miner was attacked by a group of men while he was walking home.  The newspaper reported that 

the men asked the miner where he worked, the worker responded “at the Holbrook [mine]” upon 

which he was assaulted.  Although the report did not state this was an attack made by IWW 

members, it was undoubtedly what the paper wanted readers to believe.[2]  Many nonunion 

miners in Bisbee said that the “strikers would molest [them] everyday with insults and holler” at 

workers, encouraging them to quit their jobs or become victims of violence.[3]  Such comments 

endured by the miners included, “If you go to work tonight you will get picked off,” “I’ve got 

you marked between the eyes” and “If you care anything for your life you will not go out 

tomorrow night.”[4] A miner by the name of E.P. White said that he endured insults as he made 

his way to work.  One day he was allegedly told by a striker, 

“Say, fella you’ve only got a day or two more.  As an old friend of yours I advise you to stay 

home on the thirteenth because there is going to be hell popping in Bisbee.  You are married and 

got a family.  Look out for them”. 

From that point on, White said he began to carry a lunch pail to work, the contents of which was 

a “forty-five six-shooter.”  Moreover, fearing for his spouse’s safety, he left a shotgun with her at 

home, in case any of the IWW striker’s threats were actually carried out. [5]  

     [1] “I.W.W. Admits Effort To Cripple U.S.,” Bisbee Daily Review, 3 July 1917. 

     [2] “Shattuck Resumes Operation; Miner Is Beaten By Foreigners,” Bisbee Daily Review, 10    

July 1917.  

     [3] J.F. Hulse, Texas Lawyer: The Life of William H. Burges (El Paso: Mangan Books, 1982),  

231.   

     [4] Bailey, 125. 

     [5] Hulse, 227-228. 

Within the first few days of the 1917 strike, Cochise County Sheriff Harry Wheeler became quite 

concerned with the situation in Bisbee.  He contacted Arizona Governor Thomas Campbell and 

asked that “federal troops” be sent to the mining town.  Upon hearing this, the governor 

suggested the U.S. Secretary of War look into the conditions in the town.  By June 29, a military 

investigator, Lieutenant Colonel James Hornbrook arrived in Bisbee.  After spending a couple of 
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days in the mining camp, Hornbook concluded that troops did not appear to be necessary at that 

time.  However, Hornbrook told Sheriff Wheeler that soldiers were but a “short distance” away 

at Fort Huachuca if they were needed in the future. [1]   

     [1] Bailey, 126. 

As the walkout continued in July of 1917, strikers began to picket in various areas of the town 

such as the railroad depot and various mining company related sites.[1]  In addition, the IWW 

held meetings within Bisbee’s City Park, located in Brewery Gulch, with a sizeable number of 

individuals listening to the speakers. At one such meeting, a Wobbly was reported to have told 

the crowd, “The kind of Liberty Bond you fellows want is the little red card.  It only costs 

$2.50.”  The man was then said to have pulled out his red IWW membership card and displayed 

it to those in the audience. [2]  Between this kind of action and the known stance of the IWW 

being against the war, the local press had a field day conveying how un-American the union and 

its followers were, as it was expressed that all the organization desired to do was “paralyze the 

United States” while her soldiers were fighting overseas.[3]   

         [1]  Bailey, 125.  

     [2]   “I.W.W. Admit Effort to Cripple U.S.,” Bisbee Daily Review, 3 July 1917.   

     [3]  Bisbee Daily Review, 6 July 1917. 

Most of the above has been directly excerpted from: 

DIGGING UP THE PAST:  MINING, 

LABOR AND THE DEPORTATION OF 

1917 IN BISBEE, ARIZONA By Cherry 

Anne Graeme Larkin 

 

The comment about “Liberty Bonds” 

supposedly made by the IWW member hit 

directly against the patriotic fervor of the 

time.  It was this sort of comment that 

fueled the widely-held belief that the IWW 

was anti-American and pro-German. 

Bond drives were very much a part of the 

war effort and correctly seen by most as a 

patriotic duty and most Bisbee miners 

purchased these bonds. Indeed, more than 

3,000 of Bisbee’s mine workers are listed 

as having purchased Liberty Bonds by the 

Bisbee Daily Review (1918).    

What could be more American than 

the Boy Scouts supporting a Liberty 

Bond Drive, as shown in this 1917 

poster from the Library of Congress. 
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Slide 12 

Just over a year prior to the strike, on March 9, 1916, Mexican revolutionary Pancho Villa and 

his forces attacked the town of Columbus, New Mexico.  The raid resulted in the deaths of 

seventeen Americans and the destruction of American property. [1] Closer to home, the Mexican 

border towns of Agua Prieta and Naco, Sonora were both scenes of revolutionary battles within 

the past few years.  

 

In addition, the discovery of the infamous Zimmerman telegram in 1917, (British intelligence 

intercepts a wireless message January 17 from the German foreign secretary Arthur von 

Zimmermann to Make war together, make peace together, generous financial support, and an 

understanding on our part that Mexico is to recover the lost territory in Texas, New Mexico, and 

Arizona.“) in which Germany proposed an alliance with Mexico, added to American suspicion 

of their southern neighbors.  The telegram stated if the United States decided to enter World War 

I, Germany wished to ally itself with Mexico, in which Germany would give Mexico “generous 

financial support” to “reconquer [its] lost territory in Texas, New Mexico and Arizona.”[2] As 

one can clearly see, American suspicions of possible Mexican revolutionary or German inspired 

acts of violence or sabotage in border communities were not completely unfounded.  Therefore, 

the strong anti-war stance taken by the IWW was viewed as a potential and serious threat not 

only to the community of Bisbee but to the overall war effort.  In addition, residents of Bisbee 

were not the only people who felt that IWW members were working toward helping the enemy 

The temper of the times

Graeme  Larkin collection

US sold er s on the US/Mexico boarder 

near the CQ smelter, Douglas - 1916

Before the events that followed the strike can be understood, a 

sense of the prevailing feeling of general insecurity and fear 

must be had.  The US just entered a war which had engulfed much 

of Europe for several years.  To the south, Mexico was being torn 

apart by a protracted civil war which had caused raids into the US 

with loss of life.  There was credible reason to believe that 

Germany was trying to keep the US occupied with the Mexican 

conflict and a real fear it would extend into the US at any moment.  

This was a time of great insecurity in the US and most of all, along 

the boarder with Mexico with hundreds  of army troops in place to 

protect against the expected invasion from the south   ~~~~~

Mexican Rebels camp at N aco. The monument 

at the right demarks the US –Mexic o boundary 

1916
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during the war.  For example, in Scranton, Pennsylvania an IWW member was arrested on the 

“charge of being a German spy.”[3]    

 

     [1] Friedrich Katz, The Life and Times of Pancho Villa (Stanford: Stanford University Press, 

1998), 564, 566; “Columbus, N.M., Scene of Early Morning Attack; 17 Americans Killed; 

Invaders Suffer Heavily,” Bisbee Daily Review, 10 March 1916. 

     [2] Carlos Schwantes, Vision & Enterprise: Exploring the History of Phelps Dodge 

Corporation (Tucson: The University of Arizona Press, 2000), 152-154; Arthur Zimmerman to 

the German Minister to Mexico, von Eckhardt, January 1917.  Cited in “Teaching with 

Documents Lesson Plan: The Zimmerman Telegram,” U.S. National Archives and Records 

Administration, http://www.archives.gov/digital_ classroom/ 

lessons/zimmermann_telegram/images/decoded_message.jpg (accessed 21 April 2005).  The 

decoded telegram is located at the National Archives and Records Administration in Decimal 

File 862.20212/69 (1910-1929), General Records of the Department of State, Record Group 59. 

     [3]  “The World’s News in Today’s Times,” Los Angeles Times, 5 July 1917.  

 

Rumors that the union had been “infiltrated by pro-German extremists” added to an already tense 

atmosphere in the mining camp. [1] Moreover, it was reported that former Villistas were also 

among the throng of IWW strikers.[2]  Such information caused fear to grow within the hearts of 

Bisbee’s residents. 

 

     [1] Bailey, 125. 

     [2] Byrkit, 188.  

 

Moreover, fears that mine strikes were impacting the war effort were not completely unfounded.  

The culmination of several walkouts in the country’s copper mining centers including Globe and 

Jerome, Arizona caused a significant decrease in the nation’s copper production.  The New York 

Times reported that “between 30 and 40 percent of the country’s mine and smelter capacity had 

been put out of business by the continued spread of strikes.”[1] Clearly, if such a situation would 

have persisted it is possible the lack of copper production could have had a negative impact in 

the production of war related materials. 

 

     [1]; “Copper Men Alarmed,” New York Times, 4 July 1917. 

 

Most of the above has been directly excerpted from: 

DIGGING UP THE PAST: 

 MINING, LABOR AND THE DEPORTATION OF 1917 IN BISBEE, ARIZONA 

By Cherry Anne Graeme Larkin  
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Slide 13 

 

There was a near-universal belief in the US 

that the anti-capitalist were a threat to the 

country and that many, if not most who 

harbored such sentiments were of foreign 

origin.  Deportation was not a new or 

unique concept as it had been effected 

against the IWW at Jerome just weeks 

earlier.  And too, there was a national 

desire to remove the socialist element from 

America via deportation, thus the idea had 

local support and did not seem illogical to 

those involved. 

 

 

The Image of the IWW

The IWW, with its strong anti-war, anti-

capitalist, seemingly treasonous  rhetoric 

only added to the already tense situation.  

If there was any doubt concerning its 

real goals, the strike seemed to confirm 

the anti-American nature of this union in 

the minds of a great many.  The mining 

companies did little to change this notion 

and the IWW did much to confirm such a 

belief                 ~~~~~
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Slide 14 

July 11, 1917 was perhaps the most stressful day of the strike.  That day advertisements from the 

three major mining companies in town appeared in the local paper.  Each of these ads informed 

mine employees that unless sick or injured all workers were expected to attend work by midnight 

on the thirteenth.  If one did not appear for work they could consider themselves “discharged” 

and collect any belonging that may be in their lockers. [1] In addition, on the eleventh the mayor 

of Bisbee, Jacob Erickson, Sheriff Wheeler, the city marshal and the IWW strike committee had 

a meeting at the marshal’s office.  Erickson informed the union members that Bisbee’s City Park 

would no longer be available for public meetings without a permit. [2]  Moreover, Erickson 

complained about IWW strikers blocking traffic near the post office.[3]  At one point during the 

gathering, a striker by the name of Embree protested the mayor’s orders and claimed such 

actions were “depriving [the] rights” of the picketers.  Embree then went on to say, he could no 

“longer be responsible for the conduct of his men as he could not control them.”[4] Moreover, 

because of the restrictions he placed on the strikers, Mayor Erickson allegedly received verbal 

threats.  

     [1] “Notice,” Bisbee Daily Review, 11 July 1917. 

     [2] Samuel Morse, The Truth about Bisbee (1929), 15.  Cited in “Resources of the 

Deportation,” Bisbee Deportation: A University of Arizona Web Exhibit, Arizona Board of 

Regents, http://digital.library.arizona.edu/bisbee /truth/t1.php (accessed 31 March 2005).  The 
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• It was more than a strike that the 

citizens of Bisbee wanted to end 

on July 12, 1917 when they took 

up arms against the IWW and its 

supporters. Many believed they 

were protecting their homes, 

their country and way of life.  A 

patriotic spirit filled the air as 

the armed men moved against their 

neighbors

• Whether this was mass hysteria 

or not, it was something they 

believed and the newly deputized 

men scoured the city for the 

Wobblies and their sympathizers

• In the end, some 2,000 armed men 

collected an equal number of  

strikers and marched them to the 

Warren Ballpark for individual 

review.  Anyone willing to return 

to work was released

• A total of 1,186 men refused to 

work and were loaded into cattle 

cars and shipped out, much to the 

loud approval of those remaining 

behind.  The task was complete 

~~~~~
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original copy of this source which was provided to the web site is located at the University of 

Arizona Library. 

     [3] Bill O’Neil, Captain Harry Wheeler: Arizona Lawman (Austin: Eakin Press, 2003), 117. 

     [4] Morse, 15. 

 

On the evening of July 11, a meeting was held to discuss how to resolve the situation in Bisbee.  

Among those in attendance were Cochise County Sheriff Wheeler and Calumet and Arizona 

Manager John Greenway.[1]  By this point in the strike, Wheeler believed there was a real 

possibility violence could occur in the town and he wanted to take some sort of action that would 

“prevent bloodshed in the streets of Bisbee.”  At the meeting, Greenway proposed gathering the 

strikers and loading them on a train bound for Columbus, New Mexico, where “Uncle Sam 

would take care of them.”[2] The mine manager was said to phrase the idea in such a manner 

that it sounded as though the town had the “knowledge and consent of the United States 

Government.”[3] It was then decided among those in attendance that a deportation of the strikers 

would take place.   

 

Those involved in the rounding up of the picketers were told to wear “white handkerchiefs 

around their arms” in order to “distinguish [deputies] from strikers,” as illustrated in figure nine.  

Men were given weapons to aid in persuading the IWW members to leave town.  Sheriff 

Wheeler instructed the group to meet at four o’clock on the morning of the twelfth. [4] It was 

decided that the plan would not be revealed to “the U.S. soldiers stationed near Bisbee, the U.S. 

Attorney in Arizona nor to the officers of the State or County.”  This measure was taken to 

insure no outside interference would take place to hamper their plans.  In addition, it was decided 

that no communication to the outside world be made available during the gathering of the 

strikers.  Therefore, the Western Union Telegraph was seized by “force of arms.”[5] Once 

apprehended, the telegraph office in Bisbee would not be able to resume normal operations until 

four o’clock in the afternoon on July 12. [6] It was said one of the men who took on the task of 

censoring the telegraph had the nickname of “Captain.”  Therefore it is believed that Western 

Union employees obeyed his commands thinking he was a member of the United States military. 

[7]   

 

     [1] Bailey, 127.  

     [2] Ibid. 

     [3] Cox, 180. 

     [4] Bailey, 128. 

     [5] Cox, 180-181. 

     [6] “Report of a Censorship,” New York Times, 13 July 1917.  

     [7] Cox, 181, 181n, 182n. 

 

In the early morning darkness of July 12, calls made to members of the Citizens’ Protective 

League and the Workman’s Loyalty League broke the desert’s silence.  It took approximately 

“two and a half hours” to contact the individuals desired to be in the Bisbee posse, with calls 

even being placed to people in Douglas, Arizona.  By six o’clock in the morning, approximately 

two thousand armed posse members had entered the mining camp and waited for Sheriff 

Wheeler’s command to begin the roundup of the strikers. [1]  
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The headline of the Bisbee Daily Review that morning read, “ALL WOMEN AND CHILDREN 

KEEP OFF STREETS TODAY.”  Also on the front page was a statement from Sheriff Wheeler: 

I have formed a Sheriff’s Posse of 1,200 men in Bisbee and 1,000 in Douglas, all loyal 

Americans, for the purpose of arresting, on charges of vagrancy, treason and of being disturbers 

of the peace of Cochise County, all those strange men who have congregated here from other 

parts and sections for the purpose of harassing and intimidating all men who desire to pursue 

their daily toil.  I am continually told of threats and insults heaping upon the working men of this 

district by so-called strikers, who are strange to these parts, yet who presume to dictate the 

manner of life of the people of this district. [2]   

Wheeler went on to say he would “assume all responsibility” for the actions of his posse and 

every individual would “be treated humanely and their case examined with justice and care.”[3] 

The newspaper hit the streets at half past six and so did the posse. [4]  

 

Wheeler gave the word to commence the collection of the IWW members at six thirty that 

morning.  Posse members searched “rooming houses, hotels, private houses” and “every possible 

hiding place of a Wobbly.”[5] It was reported that within “five minutes…five hundred” union 

men and sympathizers had been led to the heart of downtown Bisbee. [6]   

 

     [1]  Bailey, 127-128; Byrkit, 192. 

      [2]  “All Women and Children Keep Off Streets Today,” Bisbee Daily Review, 12 July 1917. 

     [3]  Ibid. 

     [4]  “Arizona Sheriff Ships 1,000 IWW’s Out in Cattle Cars,” New York Times, 13 July 1917. 

     [5]  “Hundreds of Deputy Sheriffs round up ‘Wobblies’ and Send Them Under Heavy Away 

Guard,” Bisbee Daily Review, 13 July 1917. 

     [6]  Byrkit, 193. 

 

Most of the above has been directly excerpted from: 

 

DIGGING UP THE PAST: 

 MINING, LABOR AND THE DEPORTATION OF 1917 IN BISBEE, ARIZONA 

By Cherry Anne Graeme Larkin 
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Slide 15 

Orson McRae was a miner for the C&A. He was recruited into the Loyal League, an association 

of miners loyal to the companies, and sworn in as a deputy on July 11. On the morning of the 

deportation, he joined a posse of five deputies who were assigned to pick up striking miners from 

rooming houses. McRae was unarmed when he forced his way into Jim Brew's room, after Brew 

warned that he would shoot. McRae had a wife and four children. Brew and McRae were the 

only two deaths which occurred during the deportation. The citizens of Bisbee gave McRae an 

elaborate funeral; his body was laid out under the rotunda in the PD Mercantile Building 

downtown. The bottom of his tombstone reads, "Erected by the citizens of the Warren Mining 

District."  

 

The Arizona Chapter of the American Mining Congress noted: 

 

BURIED AS PATRIOT. 

 

On Sunday, July 15, the people of Bisbee and the Warren district turned out enmasse[sic] to pay 

last respects to Patriot Orson P. McRae, whose remains lay in state in the public square. 

Attorney Cleon T. Knapp pronounced over the body that it was a sacrifice to the country as noble 

and courageous as any ever given upon battle field and that it marked Arizona's first extension of 

life in the conduct of the present war. Ten thousand people of the district, more than 7,000 of 

Two were killed and remembered differently

One newly deputized citizen, Orson McRae  and one striker, James 

Brew were killed during the roundup of the IWW and sympathizers 

Brew was buried at midnight in a paupers grave in disgrace.  McRae 

was  given a hero's funeral  with a procession down main street 

followed by an emotion filled ceremony in front of the PD store 

Graeme Larkin collection                     

Funeral procession for         

Orson McRae Graeme Larkin collection 

Orson McRae ‘s body lying in state  

Graeme Larkin collection 

Orson McRae’s casket 

arrives at the PD store

The people of Bisbee  

gave McRae every 

honor possible for his 

death on their behalf 

as he was a patriot
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these being men on foot, marched three miles with the body to the cemetery. Popular 

subscription to raise a monument in the public square to the fallen patriot followed on Monday.  

 

Jim Brew was a professional union organizer who had worked as a miner and boilermaker in a 

number of western mines; he had taken part in the Cripple Creek strike of 1903-04, which led to 

the organization of the Industrial Workers of the World (IWW). A member of the IWW, Jim 

Brew had stayed home and away from the picket line for several days and was asleep at his 

boarding house when vigilantes forced their way in. He warned them that he would shoot if they 

persisted; when Orson McRae, an unarmed miner who was accompanying the five deputies 

assigned to pick up strikers, entered his room, he shot and killed him. The deputies immediately 

shot and killed Brew as he ran out the backdoor of the boarding house, attempting to escape. 

These were the only two deaths which occurred during the deportation. His body was buried at 

midnight in the Elks section of Bisbee's Evergreen Cemetery. 

 
Slide 16 

The subsequent investigation found that Wheeler was indeed the leader of the event, something 

he readily acknowledged. It also reported that John Greenway was the most active of all the 

leaders during the event, notable at the Warren ballpark where he repeatedly attempted to 

convince those to be deported to renounce the strike and return to work.  Many did just this and 

were released by the Loyalty League, as the groups called its self.   
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Walter Douglas was not present, but the superintendent of the El Paso & Southwestern Railroad, 

testified that is was at the direct order of Walter Douglas that he sent the train to Warren to deport 

the strikers. 

 

Lem Shattuck’s role is less clear, though he was personally named and charged with kidnapping 

by some of the deportees. 

 

None were ever tried for anything related to this episode or punished in any way. Sheriff Wheeler 

and 21 leading businessmen were indicted for violating the rights of the deportees by a Federal 

grand jury. The indictment was invalidated by the U.S. circuit court, and the decision was upheld 

in United States v. Wheeler. An indictment by the State for illegal kidnapping was obtained 

against 224 leading businessmen, Sheriff Wheeler, and many deputies and police officers. One 

case (Henry Wootton) was tried, and the verdict of acquittal after several weeks of trial led to the 

dismissal of the charges against the other defendants.  

 
Slide 17 

After the deportation of July 12, Bisbee citizens took measures to insure that strikers would not 

infiltrate their community.  Individuals who wandered into the mining camp that were believed 

to have been deported were “ordered to leave” the area.  In addition, all roads which led into the 

The impact of the Deportation 

• In Bisbee, the mood was jubilant following the removal of 

the strikers.  The citizens accepted the martial law-like 

atmosphere which prevailed for a while as access to the 

town was controlled to prevent the return of the 

strikers or others who might share their views

• As the news of this drastic and unprecedented action 

reached the outside world, reactions were mixed. Both the 

New York Times and the Los Angeles Times congratulated 

the citizens of Bisbee on a job well done, suggesting other 

communities should follow the example. A great many 

other papers supported this “patriotic” act as well

• However, both the state and Federal governments took a 

very different view as it was their obligation to protect 

the citizenry  and to defend their rights

• President Woodrow Wilson express grave concern over 

this act of vigilantism and ordered an investigation of the 

event.  Felix Frankfurter would led the investigation, 

something which would have huge impacts on Bisbee’s 

labor history some 24 years later 

• This clear violation of Constitutional rights could not be 

ignored by government and it was not

• However, time and the temper of the citizens of Bisbee, 

indeed that of the whole country, would assure that no 

one would be punished for their role in this matter

~~~~~

The impact of the Deportation 

• In Bisbee, the mood was jubilant following the removal of 

the strikers.  The citizens accepted the martial law-like 

atmosphere which prevailed for a while as access to the 

town was controlled to prevent the return of the 

strikers or others who might share their views

• As the news of this drastic and unprecedented action 

reached the outside world, reactions were mixed. Both the 

New York Times and the Los Angeles Times congratulated 

the citizens of Bisbee on a job well done, suggesting other 

communities should follow the example. A great many 

other papers supported this “patriotic” act as well

• However, both the state and Federal governments took a 

very different view as it was their obligation to protect 

the citizenry  and to defend their rights

• President Woodrow Wilson express grave concern over 

this act of vigilantism and ordered an investigation of the 

event.  Felix Frankfurter would led the investigation, 

something which would have huge impacts on Bisbee’s 

labor history some 24 years later 

• This clear violation of Constitutional rights could not be 

ignored by government and it was not

• However, time and the temper of the citizens of Bisbee, 

indeed that of the whole country, would assure that no 

one would be punished for their role in this matter

~~~~~



528 

 

mining camp and “railroad points” were protected around the clock by armed vigilantes. [1] To 

enter the town one was required to show the guards a “passport from the mayor or recognized 

commercial body of certain designated cities” and be subjected to having their vehicle searched 

and questioned intently.  It was made very clear that “members and sympathizers of the IWW 

[were] not welcome” in Bisbee and were “warned to stay out.”  Furthermore, the town set up an 

Investigation Committee which also questioned individuals to assure they were not among the 

“undesirable” persons the town had removed. [2] In fact, all men who were not employed were 

required to appear before the Investigation Committee to receive a “clearance” card that would 

permit them to work.  If an unemployed individual was found not to have appeared before the 

board, they were subject to being “arrested and charged with vagrancy.”  Those persons taken 

into custody would then be sent “before the justice of the peace and later either sentenced to jail 

or ordered out of town.”[3] Yet despite the restrictive environment, with time the mining 

community seemed to return to normal.  By October 8, 1917, Phelps Dodge and the Calumet and 

Arizona Mining Company reported that eighty percent of the underground positions on their 

properties were filled. 

  

     [1] “Miners Return to Their Work,” Los Angeles Times, 17 July 1917; “Doubt Teutons Paid 

Agitators of IWW,” New York Times, 17 July 1917; “Passports Now Needed to Get Into Bisbee 

District,” Tucson Citizen, 19 July 1917.  

     [2] “Steer Clear of Bisbee, Warning to the IWW,” Los Angeles Times, 18 July 1917.  

     [3] “Will Arrest Unemployed,” Los Angeles Times, 22 July 1917. 

 

The New York Times stated, the “Sheriff of Bisbee was on the right track when he instructed his 

deputies to arrest the IWW men on charges of vagrancy.”[1] In addition, the Los Angeles Times 

wrote, the “citizens of Cochise County, Arizona, have written a lesson that the whole of America 

would do well to copy.”[2] 

   

     [1] “Diversions of the IWW,” New York Times, 14 July 1917. 

     [2] “Traitors at Home, Enemies Abroad,” Los Angeles Times, 15 July 1917.  

 

Immediately, when President Wilson heard of what transpired he contacted Arizona Governor 

Campbell.  President Wilson wrote, 

Secretary of War has instructed General Parker to send officers to Arizona at once to report to 

him conditions there with a view cooperating in the maintenance of order.  Meantime, may I not 

respectfully urge the great danger of citizens taking the law into their own hands, as your report 

indicates their having done.  I look upon such actions with grave apprehension.  A very serious 

responsibility is assumed when such precedents are set.[1] 

 

     [1] “Wilson Sends Warning to Arizona,” The Tucson Citizen, 13 July 1917.  Cited in 

“Contemporary Newspaper Articles,” Bisbee Deportation: A University of Arizona Web Exhibit, 

Arizona Board of Regents,  

Most of the above has been directly excerpted from: 

DIGGING UP THE PAST: 

 MINING, LABOR AND THE DEPORTATION OF 1917 

 IN BISBEE, ARIZONA 

By Cherry Anne Graeme Larkin 
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The national reaction to the deportation of the Wobblies from Bisbee was mixed with more than 

a few publications voicing outright approval, as previously noted.  Above is a page from the 

August 9, 1917 issue of the popular national magazine, Leslie’s Weekly, covering the event.  

While the tone is somewhat muted, the title and text tell of an approving point of view.  



530 

 

Slide 18 

 

President Wilson ordered an investigation of the Bisbee Deportation.  A Mediation Commission 

researched the event and concluded the actions taken by Sheriff Wheeler and the posse members 

were “wholly illegal and without authority in law, either State or Federal.”  The report presented 

to the President agreed with the sentiment of Arizona Governor Campbell that “the constitutional 

rights of citizens and others have been ignored.” Moreover, the Mediation Commission made the 

recommendation that “such occurrences hereafter be made criminal under the Federal law to the 

full extent of the constitutional authority of the Federal Government.” [1]   In addition, the 

Mediation Commission “shift[ed] the burden of responsibility for the deportation” to the mining 

companies. [2]   

 

     [1] U.S. Department of Labor, 6-7. 

     [2] Bailey, 131.  

 

Kidnapping charges were then filed against the Sheriff and members of his posse.  However, 

Wheeler had left Bisbee a short time after the deportation to serve in World War I.  It was 

believed by the District Attorney French who had filed the charges that Wheeler was too popular 

in the area to secure a conviction.  Nevertheless Wheeler would be called back to Arizona, as the 

prosecution wished to use him as a witness against the other indicted posse members. [1]   

In the end, no one is punished, should they have been?

• Was this event simply union busting during a strike or more?

• Did the citizens of Bisbee chose the lesser of  two evils – a 

deportation to prevent almost certain bloodshed?  Most 

probably

• Were the mining companies the driving force behind the whole 

affair?  In part, yes, but genuine fear on the part  of the 

citizenry was an important factor as the companies could 

never have carried out this massive effort without a total  and 

belief based commitment from the individuals involved

• This is further proven as the government tries, in vain, to hold 

those involved accountable with charges of kidnapping

• The first to be tried for this crime was the owner of a small 

hardware store, not exactly a big player in this tragic drama –

he was acquitted and more

• The verdict as read by the jury foreman clearly stated that 

not only was the defendant not guilty, but it would be 

“morally wrong” for anyone else to be tried for their role in 

this event, a clear reflection of the acceptance of the event

• No one else was ever tried, the wounds of the Deportation 

remain open to this day as so much was never resolved – one 

way or another

• Today, any interested person should review the voluminous 

information available with an open mind before deciding on the 

rightness or wrongness – guilt or innocence of this defining 

event and its participants, while being careful not to judge 

the past in the context of the present during the process
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The first of the 210 defendants to be put on trial was Harry E. Wootton, the owner of a Bisbee 

hardware store. [2] Wootton was charged with the kidnapping of deportee Fred W. Brown.  The 

charge against the defendant rose from an Arizona statute which stated “Every person who 

forcibly steals, takes or arrests any person in this state and carries him into another country state 

or county…is guilty of kidnapping.”  The argument of the defense counsel William Burges 

claimed that the defendant and the other Bisbee deputies committed the act out of the necessity 

to protect the town’s residents, including Wootton and private property. [3] Burges stated that 

like an individual has a right to act in self-defense when threatened, so does a community. [4] 

Therefore, because the residents of Bisbee believed there was a plot to “destroy lives and 

property,” they acted out of the necessity to protect the community and the property therein. [5] 

Judge Pattee, who presided over the case, clarified “self-defense as justifying the repulse of a 

wrong and necessity as justifying the invasion of a right.”[6] The lawyer for the defense stated 

that the town’s request for “Federal troops had failed,” there were no adequate facilities to 

imprison or properly guard the strikers in the area and there was an immense amount of terror 

created by the throng of men in the community.  Therefore, the citizens of Bisbee had “no better 

choice” but to “seize the men threatening their peace and deport them instead of killing them or 

being killed in the impending riot.” 

 

Prosecuting attorney French stated the strike by the members of the IWW was carried out in a 

peaceable fashion.  Therefore, French said the jury should “lay aside any question of self-defense 

in [the] case for the simple reason that the evidence does not warrant…considering that subject.  

There [was] no self defense involved.”[7]   

 

When Harry Wheeler, sheriff during the deportation, took the stand he explained that he “feared 

that men, women and children of both sides would be killed in the streets of the town.”[8] 

However, upon being asked if he knew 900 of the 1,186 men deported were not members of the 

IWW, he said he did not.  In addition, the prosecution asked Wheeler if he knew significant 

numbers of the victims were either “registered for the draft,” purchased Liberty Bonds or 

members of the United States armed forces, he again replied no.[9]  

 

Shortly after having their dinner on April 30, 1920, the jury began their deliberations.[10]  A 

mere fifteen minutes later the men emerged with a verdict.[11]  Having needed to take only one 

ballot, the twelve man jury concluded Wootton was not guilty.[12] Commenting about the 

verdict, jury foreman J. O. Calhoun of Douglas, Arizona said, 

 

“The verdict of the jury is a vindication of the deportation, if not in the legal 

sense, at least a moral sense.  No man could listen to the evidence adduced during 

the trail without feeling that the people of Bisbee were in imminent danger, and 

that, if their fears were ungrounded, yet they were apparently real and 

pressing….this fear does not have to be a fear of really existent dangers but only 

of apparent danger when the appearance of that danger is so compelling as to be 

real to him who views it…That all the members of the jury must have had this 

thought when they made out their first and only ballot is shown, in my estimation, 

by the quickness and unanimity of their decision…I believe it would be morally 

wrong for the county attorney’s office to bring up another of the deportation 
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cases for trail.  Mr. French made a good fight—a fight that he may well be proud 

of—but the facts were against him, and, in the judgment of all the jurors, I 

believe, the facts in any other deportation case must be against him also”.[13] 

 

Despite the clear violation of the deportee’s rights, the charges against the other deportation 

deputies were dismissed, as it appeared as though the other cases would result in the same 

verdict. [14] 

 

     [1] Cox, 188; Bailey 132. 

     [2] “Need More Venires in Arizona Trails,” Los Angeles Times, 17 February 1920; 

“Tombstone Jury Box Filled: Took Month,” Los Angeles Times, 2 March 1920.  The author 

noticed that the spelling of Wootton’s name varied in primary and secondary sources.  Primary 

documents spell the name Wootton, while some secondary sources, such as Lynn Bailey’s work 

use Wooton.  The author of this paper decided to use the spelling of the name found within the 

primary sources.               

     [3] “Necessity as a Defense,” Columbia Law Review, Vol. 21 no. 1 (January 1921), 71; Frank 

Curly, The Law of Necessity as Applied in State of Arizona vs. H. E. Wootton (Tucson: Bureau of 

Information, n.d.), 10.  

     [4] Curly, 10.  

     [5] “Necessity as a Defense,” 71. 

     [6] Edward B. Arnolds and Norman F. Garland, “The Defense of Necessity in Criminal Law: 

The Right to Choose the Lesser Evil,” Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, Vol. 65, no. 3 

(September 1974), 293. 

     [7] Bailey, 133.  

     [8] “Ran Miners Out to Save Bisbee,” Los Angeles Times, 30 March 1920. 
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Slide 19 

With the retirement of Walter Douglas, the merger with the C&A and the pressures of the Great 

Depression, both PD and Bisbee changed. The very capable, new President of Phelps Dodge, 

Louis Cates, had to take a hard, business oriented approach toward copper production, as the 

very survival of the company was at risk. The necessary closure of many marginal mines and the 

layoffs of hundreds of employees following the merger was traumatic, beyond anything 

experienced before at Bisbee.  The C&A employees had little faith in the PD management and 

the PD employees felt forgotten, if not betrayed, as many were let go while some ex-C&A men 

were retained.  Work days were reduced for the few retained and the continuing national 

financial crisis fueled the deep feeling of uncertainty and insecurity in the men, something the 

company did not/could not address as it had in the past.   

As is so often the case, unions sought to fill the void created when the company seemed distant 

from the employees.  To be sure, the company tried to empower the employees, but it seems that 

the bonds of trust and reliance had been irreparably broken.  The employees looked elsewhere 

for support and the unions were there to provide it. 

Thus ended the paternalistic relationship between the Copper Queen and its employees, fractured 

by a national crisis and a forced change in leadership styles.  While a more conflictive 

relationship evolved over the next dozen or so years, there was never a deep anti-company 

sentiment among the workers at Bisbee.   

It would be 16 years before organized labor returned

• The aftermath of the deportation and the mood of the 

community kept unions away for years

• In 1933, the International Union of Mine, Mill and Smelter 

Workers (IUMMSW) came to Bisbee and successfully 

organized many miners, largely because of the difficulties 

brought about by the depression and the many layoffs

• During 1934, the union presented a number of demands to 

PD, all of which were refused. Indeed, PD refused to even 

recognize the union as a legitimate representative of the 

men

• A strike was called by the union in June 1935.  PD responded 

by dismissing a number of union members and refusing to hire 

known union members.   The strike lasted to late-August 

when it was abandoned because of the harsh actions of PD

• However, the National Labor Relation Board (NLRB) act 

came into law in July of 1935, during the strike, under which 

more than a few of the strike breaking actions used by PD 

were specifically forbidden.  The union filed unfair labor 

practices charges with the NLRB which held PD had acted 

illegally in dismissing union members.  PD would appeal

• Again, organized labor left Bisbee, but this time they were 

not defeated, just deferred until  the NLRB ruling was to be 

upheld                                          ~~~~~
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Slide 20   

In many ways, the long-

standing Employee 

Benefit Association had 

functioned like a union in 

that it provided many of 

the benefits brought by 

unions as well as 

providing communication 

to the employees. The 

newsletter shown below 

is an example.  And too, 

the Employee Congress, 

formed in 1921, provided 

a way to address concerns 

directly with the 

company. Yet these 

efforts were to prove 

inadequate during this 

difficult moment.  

PD forms a “company union”

• The intense union activity which followed the merger of PD and 

the C&A was rooted in the natural insecurity brought on by the 

attempt to meld the two very different corporate cultures and 

many layoffs of workers from both companies  

• all of PD’s mines were now closed with  only the Junction & 

Campbell  operating using the best miners, technical staff  and 

management from both companies.  Thousands were let go

• PD’s management style was quite different from that of the C&A

and the C&A workers were very uncomfortable with their new 

bosses, while PD employees felt insecure as many of their 

number had been let go with many C&A miners retained 

• Following the strike of 1935, PD enlarged the scope of its 

Employee Benefit Association and of the Employee’s Congress 

which would provide for the handling of  grievances and other 

employee issues in a manner similar to unions.  It continued its 

insurance programs as well

• By the end of 1937, more than 94% of the employees were 

members, but the workers wanted more say in things, relative to 

the conditions of their employment, they wanted a union

• PD never fully gained the trust of its men after the merger, 

from this point on, it would be unions who spoke for them ~~~~~
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Slide 21 

 

The Deportation of 1917 comes back to haunt PD in 1941.  PD’s Phoenix based attorney Kitchell 

had been a clerk for Felix Frankfurter during the 1920s.  Frankfurter is reported to have called 

Kitchell to his home and laid before him the report Frankfurter had written in 1917 on the 

deportation and said something to the effect that the days of dealing with workers in such a 

manner were over.  Kitchell called Louis Cates, PD’s president to report on the meeting and said 

“We are dead! This is Frankfurter’s revenge for 1917.” 

 

The source of the controversy was a strike, begun on June 10, 1935, by the International Union 

of Mine, Mill and Smelter Workers at Phelps Dodge's Copper Queen Mine, Bisbee, Arizona. 

Picketing of the mine continued until August 24, 1935, when the strike terminated. During the 

strike, the National Labor Relations Act came into force. (Act of July 5, 1935, 49 Stat. 449, 29 

U.S.C. 151 et seq., 29 U.S.C.A. 151 et seq.) The basis of the Board's conclusion that the 

Corporation had committed unfair labor practices in violation of 8(3) of the Act was a finding, 

that a number of men had been refused employment [313 U.S. 177, 182]   because of their 

affiliations with the Union. Of these men, two, Curtis and Daugherty, had ceased to be in the 

Corporation's employ before the strike but sought employment after its close. The others, thirty-

eight in number, were strikers. To 'effectuate the policies' of the Act, 10(c), the Board order the 

Corporation to offer Curtis and Daugherty jobs and to make them whole for the loss of pay 

The U.S. Supreme Curt decides against PD

• PD had routinely fired union 

members when they were 

discovered or suspected

• IT refused to hire know union 

members and blackballing was 

widely used

• With the passing of the NLRB 

act, many of the tactics used by 

PD to control the workforce 

were expressly forbidden

• The union filed unfair labor 

charges in 1935 which were 

upheld by courts on appeal, 

including the Supreme Court

• Six years after breaking the 

strike, PD was forced to rehire 

106 discharged workers and 

pay all lost wages back to 1935

• The decision was written by 

Justice Felix Frankfurter, who 

in 1917, had investigated the 

deportation for Woodrow 

Wilson and had found the 

action wrongful       ~~~~~

U.S. Su preme Cou rt

***
PHELPS DODGE CORP.                     

v.                                                

NATIONAL LABOR  RELATIONS
BD., 313 U.S. 177 (1941) 

313 U.S. 177 

PHEL PS DODGE CORPORATION 

v. 

NATIONAL LABOR RE LATIONS BOARD. 

NATIONAL LABOR RE LATIONS BOARD 

v. 

PHE LPS DODGE CORPORATION. 

No s. 387, 641. 

Argu ed M arch 11, 1941. 

Dec ided April 28, 1941.                

Phelps Do dge Cor p. 

v. 

Na tional   Labo r Re la tions Boa rd

Cover from the US Supreme Court decision 

in Phelps Dodge vs. National Labor 

Rela tions Board 1941

The U.S. Supreme Curt decides against PD

• PD had routinely fired union 

members when they were 

discovered or suspected

• IT refused to hire know union 

members and blackballing was 

widely used

• With the passing of the NLRB 

act, many of the tactics used by 

PD to control the workforce 

were expressly forbidden

• The union filed unfair labor 

charges in 1935 which were 

upheld by courts on appeal, 

including the Supreme Court

• Six years after breaking the 

strike, PD was forced to rehire 

106 discharged workers and 

pay all lost wages back to 1935

• The decision was written by 

Justice Felix Frankfurter, who 

in 1917, had investigated the 

deportation for Woodrow 

Wilson and had found the 

action wrongful       ~~~~~

U.S. Supreme Court

***
PHELPS DODGE CORP.                     

v.                                                

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS
BD., 313 U.S. 177 (1941) 

313 U.S. 177 

PHELPS DODGE CORPORATION 

v. 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD. 

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

v. 

PHELPS DODGE CORPORATION. 

Nos. 387, 641. 

Argued March 11, 1941. 

Decided April 28, 1941.                

Phelps Dodge Corp. 

v. 

National   Labor Relations Board

Cover from the US Supreme Court decision 

in Phelps Dodge vs. National Labor 

Relations Board 1941



537 

 

resulting from the refusal to hire them, and it ordered thirty-seven of the strikers reinstated with 

back pay, and the other striker made whole for loss in wages up to the time he became 

unemployable.  

 

The National Labor Relations Board said: 'Having found that the respondent has engaged in 

unfair labor practices, we will order it to cease and desist there from and to take certain 

affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act4 and to restore as nearly [313 

U.S. 177, 204]   as possible the condition which existed prior to the commission of the unfair 

labor practices.'  

 

And in its formal order, the Board stated: 'Upon the basis of the above findings of fact and 

conclusions of law, and pursuant to Section 10( c) of the National Labor Relations Act, the 

National Labor Relations Board hereby orders that the respondent, Phelps Dodge Corporation 

... shall : ... 2. Take the following affirmative action which the Board finds will effectuate the 

policies of the Act: 5 (a) Offer to the following persons immediate and full reinstatement to their 

former or substantially equivalent positions ...; (b) Make whole (the following employees) for 

any loss of pay they may have suffered by reason of the respondent's discriminatory refusal to 

reinstate them ... less the net earnings of each ....'  

 

Justice Frankfurter, writing for the majority said: “----- It is no longer disputed that workers 

cannot be dismissed from employment because of their union affiliations. Is the national interest 

in industrial peace less affected by discrimination against union activity when men are hired? 

The contrary is overwhelmingly attested by the long history of industrial conflicts, the diagnosis 

of their causes by official investigations, the conviction of public men, industrialists and 

scholars. Because of   the Pullman strike, Congress in the Erdman Act of 1898 prohibited 

inroads upon the workingman's right of association by discriminatory practices at the point of 

hiring. Kindred legislation has been put on the statute books of more than half the states. And 

during the late war the National War Labor Board concluded that discrimination against union 

men at the time of hiring violated its declared policy that 'The right of workers to organize in 

trade-unions and to bargain collectively ...   shall not be denied, abridged, or interfered with by 

the employers in any manner whatsoever'. Such a policy is an inevitable corollary of the 

principle of freedom of organization. Discrimination against union labor in the hiring of men is 

a dam to self organization at the source of supply. The effect of such discrimination is not 

confined to the actual denial of employment; it inevitably operates against the whole idea of the 

legitimacy of organization. In a word, it undermines the principle which, as we have seen, is 

recognized as basic to the attainment of industrial peace. -----” 

 

The above is largely extracted from the US Supreme court decision 323 US. 177 (1941) 
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Unionism comes to stay in 1941

• After sixty years at Bisbee and much turmoil, PD finally 

surrendered to the unions when, in 1941, the A. F. of L. 

won the right to represent Bisbee’s miners and tradesmen

• In 1942, a bitterly fought contest between the C. I. O and 

the A. F. of L. unsettles the community with the A. F. of L. 

the victor and anxious to strike, but the war effort stops 

any adverse industrial action. Bisbee was spared a second 

war time strike only because Federal Law forbid one

• 1944 saw another fight between unions, this time it was a 

three way battle --- A. F. of L., IUMMSW  and the C. I. O. The 

C. I. O won the right to represent the men

• After the war and in 1946, Bisbee saw its first strike with 

a recognized union as the C. I. O. led a walkout that lasted 

from March 20th until June 28th

• In 1948, the A. F. of L. came back and won the right to 

represent the mechanical workers while the C. I. O. 

continued to represent the underground miners

~~~~
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The 1944 Collective Bargaining Agreement, as approved by the 

National War Labor Board with the line of promotion with per day 

wage rates shown.  This was the first such agreement reached at 

Bisbee.  While it did not make any real difference in either wages 

or working conditions, both of which were already good, it did set 

forth certain lines of progression which had largely been observed 

for some time.  It was a beginning. 
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The first truly worker-backed labor strike at Bisbee came in 1946.  However, it cannot be looked 

at in isolation.  To be sure there were distinctly local issues, but the roots of this dispute and the 

strike itself are deeply entwined in what was happening on the labor front nationally.  

In general, American workers had suffered a wage decline during the ten years of the Great 

Depression.  Then, frozen wages during World War II, coupled with the “no strike” pledge given 

government by the unions in support of the war effort had frustrated workers everywhere, as 

post-war inflation eroded their earnings, while wages remained frozen. What has been labeled as 

“The Great Strike Wave” of 1945-1946 swept across all industries and across all of America.  In 

1946 alone, there were 4,985 strikes involving 4,600,000 workers with an estimated 116 million 

man-days lost (Johnson, 2007).  The turmoil that surrounded this unprecedented series of strikes 

had severe political consequences and, among other things, resulted in the passage of the much 

hated (by unions) Taft-Hartley Act to prohibit sympathy strikes or boycotts.     

In any event, the strike at Bisbee was as much about work rules, benefits and seniority as it was 

about wages.  The workforce in the mines had been reduced to near-depression era levels in 

1945, as the demand for copper had plummeted and copper scrap from the war filled much of the 

demand.  Even the venerable penny coin was then made from salvaged shell casings.  Insecurity 

among Bisbee’s miners was pervasive and a driving factor in the strike vote. 

Slide 23 

Protracted strikes hurt everyone

Graeme Larkin collection  

Picket line at the Junction mine gate 1959

By the early 1950s the IUMMSW was the dominant union in the 

district however, a number of other trades unions represented 

the various disciplines in the Lavender Pit and skills in the 

mechanical  department.  While they negotiated independently, 

they coordinated their efforts to support each other in the event 

of a strike and some long strikes were to come

In 1959, a strike 

closed the mines at 

Bisbee for most of 

five months.  The next 

and last strike 

occurred in 1967. This 

walkout lasted from 

early July until the 

end of March 1968

It is doubtful that 

either strike ever 

gained the workers or 

company nearly as 

much as was lost
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To be sure, the strongest weapon workers have against an intransigent company is a strike.  I 

would like to believe that all strike votes by the workers at Bisbee were taken with a clear 

understanding of the ramifications.  However, it is impossible to analyze the cost/benefit of a 

strike beforehand, as one can never predict the length of a strike nor the settlement terms.  In my 

considered opinion, the two very long strikes at Bisbee cost the workers more than they gained, 

much more.  This I can personally attest to from having been involved as a laborer in the mines 

at the time.   

That being said, equitable agreements are the sum of all the previous agreements and cannot be 

taken individually.  Ideally, both the company and the workers can benefit from well-crafted 

labor agreements, agreements that consider all of the individual factors.   

The equation changed with the entry of the Steelworks union and industry-wide bargaining or 

pattern bargaining as it was called.  Pattern bargaining forced all companies to meet the same 

wage levels across the whole of the industry, thereby removing the differences between 

companies and operations.    Older and smaller operations were placed at a disadvantage against 

larger or newer, more efficient operations and even more so against the many low-cost foreign 

operations.  This unfortunate approach on the part of the union played a significant role in ending 

mining at Bisbee, as it was labor intensive and simply became too expensive to maintain.  And 

too, it was this same short sighted approach that ultimately led to the end of union representation 

at Bisbee and all of Phelps Dodge’s other operations in 1983. 
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Wage gains cause reductions in labor force

Wa ges  pe r da y ($) vs. c oppe r pric e ($/lb)  1909 - - 1950
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Wage gains cause reductions in labor force

Wages per day ($) vs. copper price ($/lb) 1909 -- 1950
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The above graphs suggest several very interesting possibilities.  Referring to both graphs, it 

would appear that modest wages allow for more men to be employed, particularly when the 

spread between copper price and wages is large.  Such a wide price-wage deferential is a 

disincentive to invest in labor saving equipment.  When this relationship changes, as it did in 

1931, when wages were not synchronized with metal prices something must give. With this 

change, labor becomes a much larger component of total costs, thus there is a push to reduce 

labor by workforce reductions and adding equipment to improve individual productivity as 

happened in 1931 with the introduction of slushers in stopes and Filnley muckers in crosscuts 

and other such areas.   

 

This increased individual productivity actual allowed for increased number of employees as each 

man was much more efficient and more, lower grade material could be mined as shown by the 

increase in total employment.  Of course, growing demand because of the stress in Europe 

helped immensely, as the market could consume the increased production from the more efficient 

mining. 

 

 However, the breaking point comes in the last year of the war and thereafter when wages 

increase more rapidly than copper prices in a relative manner and no new labor savings devises 

are available.  This economic pressure reduces the number of employees and raises the copper 

grade necessary to mine at a profit.   Open pit mining comes to the rescue as this allowed for 

more production per man per day, but only with enormous capital investment. 
 

Slide 25 

The switch to unions did little to improve safety 
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some improvements to the 

workers, but sadly, safety 

was not one of them. The  

confrontational 

relationship between 

company and union often 

found the union defending 

workers who had violated 

safety rules and were being 

disciplined. 

To its great credit, PD never 

relaxed its rules or the 

aggressive way in which it 

enforced them.  Fortunately, 

by the late 1950s, the unions 

were somewhat more 

cooperative  in this regard   
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What benefit did organized labor bring to Bisbee, if any?  As has been noted time and again, the 

workers at Bisbee under Phelps Dodge and the C & A were well paid and well treated.  Their 

work environments were as good or better as any anywhere in the mining industry and they 

received benefits that most others in the industrial environment did not, but this was very much a 

reflection of the character of the men who ran the companies.  There was little a union could 

offer the workers in the way of positive changes. 

 The natural evolution of business brought about the merger of these two very good, but 

decidedly different companies.  In many ways, the near paternalistic relationship between the 

company and workers came to an end as well. 

However, the workers now, with unions, had some say in their destiny, an important and positive 

change.  Also, workers had a clear and effective channel via the grievance process to seek 

redress for wrongs.  These were important and positive changes for any workforce, irrespective 

of the management, as it maintained equilibrium of power and influence.   

Bisbee remained a good place to be a worker, the several strikes notwithstanding. Most of the 

bosses had come from the ranks of the workers and, for the most part, the senior management 

was made of men who had lived and worked in Bisbee for many years.  There was no social 

hierarchy in the town and the managers or superintendents belonged to the same fraternal orders 

or clubs as the miners.  This did much to keep a positive relationship between all. 

By the early 1960s, many looked at the unions as little more than a way to provide protection for 

the “lame and lazy,” as was so commonly said at the time.  Nonetheless, unions continued to 

serve a useful role in helping individuals resolve the typically minor disputes which arose.  Most 

disagreements were pay related, usually involving bonus calculations, as most underground were 

paid on a performance basis and the measurement of such performance was sometimes disputed. 

The second most common grievance procedure involved disciplinary action for violation of work 

rules or safety regulations.  These were typically more intense as the employees job might well 

be at risk, particularly if a past such infraction had occurred.       

Membership in the unions was never 

universal, but the majority of men did 

belong.  Few were truly active and a 

meeting might attract 75 to 100 of the 

2,000 employees.  The photo at the left is 

of a late 1950s meeting of the Mine Mill in 

its Lowell meeting hall (Melvin Elkins 

collection). 

Bisbee’s labor history is more one of 

cooperative interaction.  Unfortunately, this 

unusual relationship is totally 

overshadowed by the events of the IWW 

and the deportation – one brief and 

dramatic moment in a century of operation.  


